HA-188

Magnolia Store and Post Office

SUMMARY

For about 100 years, these buildings marked the center of Magnolia, a busy rural
village on the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad. The store was owned
by the Brown family, and finally closed when there were no heirs to take it over.

By that time however {(the 1970's) it was already a relic, more a symbol of the past
than a profitable buisness. See HA-1570 for more information on Magnolia)
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The Magnolia Store and Post Office stood on the north side of Fort Hoyle Road
(Formerly Magnolia Road). This complex was demolished in the early 1970's, having
stood empty for two years. The store and post office was located in the heart of
Magnolia, when the latter was a busy rural village, and one cannot begin to understand
the history of this area without some knowledge of the store owned by George W. Brown,
and later, his grandson George C. Brown.

This description is based on photographs from the collection of Blanche Skillman
Fletcher, whose late husband (d Feb. 1981) was the store manager nearly all his life.
(See HA-1570).

The store complex was in two parts. The store was a 2 story shed roof structure
apparently of frame construction, 5 bays wide by two long bays deep, with a 2 story
porch. This section faced south and was located adjacent to Fort Hoyle (formerly
Magnolia Road). Behind the store was a 2 story frame gable roof dwelling, 5 bays wide
by 1 deep (an I-house). This was perpendicular to the store and faced east. The two
structures were connected together, with the store entered through the living room of
the house. :

STORE

This was a rather imposing structure whose most notable feature was the two
story gallery on the south elevation. Each bay was articulated by a large squared
column with decorative sawn brackets. The upper level had a porch railing with sawn
balusters. (see Xerox of steck wooden architectural elements from 19th century catalog).
Inside the 5 bays delineated by the vertical posts were sections of lattice work opened
by a round arch cut above the railing. There was a bracketed cornice above the porch.
The earliest photo of the store shows wooden steps running the full length of the open
first story porch deck. There were bracketed posts here as in the second level. A
later photo shows the 1st, 4th and 5th bays have been enclosed to allow for the addition
of projecting show windows. These were plain single pieces of glass set on kneewalls
constructed of rock face concrete blocks. This photo shows an elaborate curtained dis-
play of merchandise in one of the show windows. The 2nd and 3rd bays remained open,
accessible via a set of concrete steps in the 3rd bay. These improvwvements were made
by George C. Brown, circa 1940, and the work was done by carpenter-contractor Harry
Osborne.

Both photos of the store show a structure clad in German siding with walls opened
by 6/6 windows. The latter had full length shutters.

An interior view of the store shows Lula Brown wife of owner Goerge C. Brown
behind the counter of the store-post office. This was the post office for Magnolia
up to 1970, and the post office window, complete with grille work and FBI Wanted
Posters is visible in the photograph. Also visible is a variety of merchandise, from
baking powder to bread. Mrs. Fletcher's whose late husband Robert, worked in this
store 53 years, reported that you could buy just about anything in the Magnolia
Store-Post Office. (See Mrs. Fletcher's writings about the old store-attached)

(See Description Continuation Sheet #1)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The house portion of the store complex in Magnolia was probably built in 1865,
with the store coming shortly thereafter. For over 100 years, this business served
the inhabitants of Magnolia and the surrounding area, including residents of The
Gunpowder Neck (now Edgewood - Aberdeen Proving Ground). Until 1943, there was also
a railroad station south of the store, and thus Magnolia was a typical run of Cross-
Roads service center, with all the trappings of a thriving village. Architecturally, the
large scale and use of decorative sawn brackets made this complex the most distinguished
buildings in Magnolia.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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Magnolia Store-Post Office
HA-188

(Description Continuation Sheet #1)

HOUSE

The house was 5 symmetrical bays wide X 1 deep with a center hall plan. |t was
convered with German siding, and had 6/6 windows with shutters. There was a bracketed
cornice, and the cornice had a slight return at the gable ends. The latter were also
bracketed. At first floor level, there is a wraparound shed roof porch on the east and
north elevations, supported by wooden posts, with decorative sawn wood brackets. A brick
chimney is visible projecting from the middle of the roof at the ridge in the earlier
photo, but doesn't show up in the later picture. Mrs. Fletcher reported that neither
the store nor the house had a basement.

George W. Brown ran the store until his death in 1916, at which time it was left
to his son, Jesse Warren Brown. George W. Brown's own house stood northwest of the
store location, and according to testimony given in Equity Case 8630X33, it was a 3 story
house, 12 room house with numerous out buildings, including 4 tenant houses, a barn,
granary, chicken houses, granary and a wash house. Aerial photographs taken in 1964
do indeed reveal a large house with smaller support buildings, but these buildings are
gone by time of the 1977 aerial photo survey. Mrs. Blanche Fletcher reported that this
house was dilapidated, and was eventually demolished except for the chimney stacks which
may remain today.

The 1871 State Gazette and Merchant Farmer's Directory for Maryland and the District
of Columbia has an extensive listing for the Village of Magnolia. There are over 35
“armers listed, and a list of tradesmen who resided in the Village (including Blacksmiths,
Shoemakers, and a Wheelwright) George W. Brown is listed as a ''dry goods and grocery
dealer, and prop. hotel which would indicate that a portion of the store {upstairs) or
the house was used to quarter travellers. This is not the least bit surprising, since
there were many such hotels throught Harford County catering to travellers on main roads
or railroad passengers. Apparently though, the Magnolia Hotel operation ceased soon
after 1871, since there is no mention of it in the 1896 Directory. MrS, Blanche Fletcher
has no recollection of the store being used as a hotel either.

George W. Brown was a bookbinder in Baltimore City before he came out to Magnolia
in mid-19th Century (1865). At his death, he willed the store to his son, Jesse Warren
Brown. Jesse had been overseeing the day to day operation of the store by the beginning
of the 20th century, since his father was growing older. Jesse sold the store to his
first born child George C. Brown (Born 1883} in 1916. George C. Brown married Lula
Fletcher who was post mistress in Magnolia for 35 years. Blanch Skillman married Robert
Fletcher, Lula's brother, in 1937.

After George C. and Lula Brown died, there were no heirs to take over the operation
of the Magnolia Store, and the property passed to a nephew who demolished it. Had there been
a Lth generation of Browns, there might still be a Magnolia Store in 1981.



MAGNOLIA STORE AND POST OFFICE

Title Search

HA-188
1. HDC 890/623 December 30, 1971 Grantor: Zero, lInc.
Grantee: Charles Frey
2. HDC 890/619 December 30, 197] Grantor: Charles Frey

Grantee: Zero, Inc.

Half of land acquired from will of George C. Brown - Will Records RLW 33/27
in which wife Lula C. Brown is given life tenancy with balance of estate to
2 nephews Charles Frey and Archer W. Malcolm at her death.

Parcel 1 from 201/32 August 5, 1926 except DGW 211/517, SWC 218/215, GCB 267/290,
GRG 302/151, GRG 496/302.

Parcel 2 1 acre conveyed in last will of George W. Brown, Wills JA 15/195
land conveyed to George C. Brown on October 27, 196 JAR 153/370
except DGW 206/242

Parcel 3 JAR 160/85

Parcel 4 Any other land in which George C. Brown had on interest through will
of George W. Brown.

George W. Brown left the store property to his son Jesse Warren Brown in his
will JA 15/195. The store was then sold to George C. Brown in 1916 JAR 153/370.

3. HDC 889/823 December 21, 1971 Grantor: Archer W. and Anna Malcolm
of Jacksonville, Fla.
Grantee: Charles Frey
Malcolm sells half interest
in Magnolia lands to Frey.

4, WHD 17/377 June 4. 1966 Grantor: James and Elizabeth Reardon
of Yuba County, California

acting through Attorney Benjamin

Fleury as per letter dated Sept.

29, 1965.
Grantee: Georgw W. Brown of Baltimore
City.
Sum: $1350.00

One acre, at the point where the road leading from the Philadelphia Turnpike at Ferguson's
Store, known as the Bel Air or Mountain Road intersects the line of the land sold by
James Reordan and wife to the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad Company.

The said Brown further covenants and agrees that he will proceed forthwith to improve the
said premises by the erection of a house thereon and within a reasonable time to complete
the same and he likewise agrees to insure said improvements and keep the same insured

in some responsible office to the extent of the value thereof.
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The growth of the Village of Magnolia is clearly illustrated by the following
Maps:

1858 - Jennings & Herrick Map of Harford County
1878 - Martenet Map of Harford County
1904 - Maryland Geological Survey of Harford County Geological Formations

The 1858 Map shows 3 structures north of the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore R.R.
tracks, near the junction with the road leading south into the Gunpowder Neck

(now Edgewood - Aberdeen Proving Ground). The only label for these,buildings is "C.F.
Smith Depot and P.0. ". South of the tracks is a small area labeled ''Magnolia Grove''.

The 1878 Map reflects 20 years of growth in and around Magnolia. There is a school and
James Cairr & Rarrison Swift, who were leasing ground from George W. Brown are indicated.
0ddly enough, Goerge Brown is noted only once as ownirg a structure south of the R.R.
tracks.

“4e 1904 Map shows Magnolia in its most developed form. The houses near the intersection
f Fort Hoyle Rd. and Magnciia Rd. (Md. 152) are all located. In 1917, the U.S. Government
took over the area south of the R.R. tracks for a military reservation but this helped
ircrease the activity in Magnolia as the main route into the installation passed through
Magnolia. Not until 1943, when the R.R. station was demolished, and the military gate
moved to northeast of the village did Magnolia's decline begin.
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During first World War thousands of workers traveled by rail, extra work
trai;s scheduled to acomodate them. One time 15 including a railroad detective
were killed when ones waiting inside pushed out to waiting platform, pushing
workers in the path of a fast rain, mistaken to be theirs. Later doors were cut
in end of the 2 waiting rooms instead of facing the tracks.

Much shipping was done over the railroad , tomatoes, corn from canneries,
milk from farms and empty cans shipped in and canned or fresh milk shipped out.
Yes, horse shoes nails and supplies. We had two goods sidings for loading and
unloading . Many local people were employed postmaster, freight agent, and station
agent, section boss and workers, telegraph operator, station master, ticket agent
and gate keeper. Many still came to watch the trains go by. Metroliners, freight of all
kinds and just railroad, for a hobby. Hundreds came to watch the furneral trains of
President Roosevelt and Kernedy go through, also when tne Freedom train stopped for
a signal - (now all electrified.) Mail and parcel post were also carried by train.
Pouches put on a post catcher as trains speeded by - or carried by baggage or main coach
as trains stopped. Mail assorted enrout, to Baltimore. (Many carrier pigeons shipped

here for release to Jersey and points North. Thousands of dollars bet on time and flight.

General Merchandise Store

BLANCHE FLETCHER MARcH |48\

Only way like a present supermarket. You could by anything you needed at one
spot. (hardware, clothing - men's, boy's, girl's, women) hose - sweaters, shirts,
underwear, dungarees, overalls, boots. rubbers. some shoes - other's could be ordered.
All baking supplies and daily bakery goods, feed (horse, cow, chicken) fertilizer,
lime, gas and oil and kerosene. (outside warehouse.) Dairy products, ice cream, sodas,
penny candies, some non prescription drugs, stationery and school supplies. All canned
fruits and vegetables, loose and boxed cookies. (Many charged from one month credit -

lot of losses too). Also sold cosmetics, sewing and crocheting cottons, some cotton dress
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!eﬁgﬁhs and oil cloth. Cleaning and washings products, clothes pins, wash and
fdo%ztubs, enamel and galvanized buckets and basins,

(Business since 1865 - 3 generations - Geo. W. Brown (2 sons, 2 daughters),
Jesse Warren Brown (1 son, 2 daughters) George Calvin Brown -~ no children. Robert worked
in store 53'years - (buyer and manager 23 years.) Community meeting place indoors and
out on big front porches. Stage coach stop, bar and restover. Selling or buying while
horses being shod (across the road). Exchange eggs and butter for other products.

&

Railroad passengers meeting place (across the road) from station. Inside - st big
log burning chunk stove, then pot belly stove, then oil heater with fan circulating
heat. Cash register and safe and records in enclosed railing with 2 swingiﬁg gates.
Walk in 5efrigerator, big show case display for meats, cheeses, lunch cuts, sodas
and milk. fce cream freezer and soft drink cooler. Glass show cases on counter around
2 s%ﬁesnand‘candy cases. (Post office enclosure) 2 scales, | with meats other for
weighingﬂup sugars, flour, corn-meal etc. bought by the barrel at first, later bought

bagged and boxed. Many spices stocked. Also working gloves, canvas, rubber and

leather palmed.
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HA-188

Magnolia Store and Post Office

35 Fort Hoyle Road

Magnolia, Maryland - Demolished 1971
SE elevation

Photo date unknown

Collection of Mrs. Blanche S. Fletcher

HA-188

Magnolia Store and Post Office

Interior view showing Mrs. Lula (George c.)
Brown

35 Fort Hoyle Road

Magnolia, Maryalnd Demolished 1971

Date of photo unknown

Collection of Mrs. Blanche S. Fletcher
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HA-188

Magnolia Store and Post Office
House - North East clevation

35 Fort Hoyle Road

Magnolia, Maryland Demolished 1971
Date of photo unknown

Collection of Mrs. Blanche Fletcher

HA-188
Magnolia Store and Post Office
35 Fort Hoyle Road
Magnolia, Maryland
Demolished circa 1971
_South elevation
te unknown (post 1940)
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wollection of Mrs. Blanch S. Fletcher
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